Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Suﬀolk, S.S.

Superior Court Civil No. SUCV2010-0802-H

Sanjoy Mahajan, Victor Brogna, Stephanie Hogue, David Kubiak, Mary McGee, Anne
M. Pistorio, Thomas Schiavoni, Pasqua Scibelli, Robert Skole, and Patricia Thiboutot,
Plaintiﬀs
v.
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
and
Boston Redevelopment Authority,
Defendants

Plaintiﬀs’ Opposition to Defendant BRA’s Renewed
Motion to Dismiss
Defendant BRA argues that plaintiﬀs lack standing. The BRA’s argument fails for the
reasons set forth below. 1 The BRA states that ``None of the Plaintiﬀs . . . even live close
enough to see or hear the proposed restaurant.’’ Memorandum in Support of Defendant
BRA’s Renewed Motion to Dismiss (``BRA Memorandum’’), p. 3. This claim, although
made many times in these proceedings, is incorrect. Plaintiﬀ Victor Brogna now lives on
Atlantic Avenue, less than one-quarter mile from the project site, and can see the project
1 Plaintiﬀs submit this opposition also as their memorandum of law and rest upon the legal

arguments herein contained.
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site. Aﬀidavit of Victor Brogna (Attachment A), paragraphs 3, 6, and 7. Although the BRA
did not know this information until recently, plaintiﬀ Bob Skole has lived at Lincoln Wharf
for over 20 years, can see the project site, and will likely hear the noise from the proposed
restaurant and bar. Aﬀidavit of Bob Skole (Attachment B), paragraphs 2, 4, 5, and 8. His
address has been part of the record since the beginning of these proceedings. Complaint,
p. 2.
The BRA claims that ``Plaintiﬀs have already represented to this Court that their speciﬁc interests will not be harmed by the Chapter 91 license.’’ BRA memorandum, p. 4 (emphasis original); BRA’s motion, p. 1. Plaintiﬀs’ statement, however, was diﬀerent: that,
because plaintiﬀs’ standing is conferred by regulation and statute, they did not need to
show a personal injury. Not needing to assert X is diﬀerent from asserting not X. 2

I. Plaintiﬀs have standing to appeal the Chapter 91 license
To statutory standing Plaintiﬀs now turn.
A. The Sturbridge decision supports Plaintiﬀs’ standing
On standing, the BRA relies on the recently decided Board of Health of Sturbridge v. Board
of Health of Southbridge, 461 Mass. 548 (2012)—as do plaintiﬀs. In Sturbridge, the SJC ruled
that the ten-citizen petitioners did not have standing to seek judicial review of a landﬁll operator’s application. Id., at 560. The SJC explained the denial as follows: ``[T]here
is no indication of how close any of the members of the citizen groups may live to the
[project]. . .’’ Ibid. Here, the addresses of all plaintiﬀs are part of the record. Amended
Complaint, p. 2. Furthermore, the BRA has provided an aerial photograph of the area
showing Long Wharf and several of plaintiﬀs’ addresses—although not showing plaintiﬀ
Skole’s longstanding address at Lincoln Wharf with a direct view of the project site, and
not showing plaintiﬀ Brogna’s new address at 111 Atlantic Avenue. Aﬀidavit of Robert
Skole, paragraphs 2 and 5; Aﬀidavit of Victor Brogna, paragraph 3; Record, p. 1574.
Second, Sturbridge concerned a public hearing, which is a nonadjudicatory proceed2 The emphasis below is on statutory standing.
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ing. 3 Sturbridge at 561 (n.28). The DEP proceeding from which plaintiﬀs appealed, is an
adjudicatory proceeding. 310 CMR 9.17(1)(c). The Sturbridge decision turned heavily on
this distinction; in an adjudicatory proceeding, the grounds for standing are those given
in Save the Bay v. Department of Public Utilities, 366 Mass. 667 (1975): ``[I]n Save the Bay, the
court was discussing intervention in an administrative agency’s `adjudicatory proceeding’.’’ Sturbridge, at 557.
In Save the Bay, the SJC applied the following reasoning in conferring standing. First
it provided a general principle: ``Only where the parties have demonstrated the required
participation in the administrative proceeding and have presented an orderly record before the agency have they properly preserved their appellate rights.’’ Save the Bay at 672.
Then it applied the principle:
Concerned Citizens fully participated in the proceedings before the Department
by introducing evidence, cross-examining witnesses and objecting to certain evidence oﬀered in support of the exemption. . . .
...
The participation by Concerned Citizens (and thus Pereira) was similar to that
found suﬀicient to permit an appeal by the town of Wilmington under G. L. c. 25,
Section 5, in Wilmington v. Department of Pub. Util. 340 Mass. 432, 434-435 (1960).
In that case the town counsel cross-examined the railroad’s witnesses, presented
evidence on the town’s behalf, ﬁled requests for rulings and submitted a brief.
Save the Bay at 675. Here, consonant with the standard set forth in Save the Bay, plaintiﬀs’
participated fully—some would say too fully—in the proceedings, by calling witnesses,
cross-examining BRA and DEP witnesses, objecting to evidence, ﬁling requests for rulings,
and submitting briefs. For all these reasons, plaintiﬀs have standing, consistent with Save
the Bay and Sturbridge.
B. Statutory standing
In reviewing a motion to dismiss under Mass. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1), the factual allegations in
the plaintiﬀ’s complaint, as well as any favorable inferences reasonably drawn from them,
are accepted as true. Ginther v. Commissioner of Insurance, 427 Mass. 319, 322 (1998).
3 Enos v. Sec. of Environ. Aﬀairs, 432 Mass. 132 (2000), on which the BRA also relies, also

concerns a nonadjudicatory proceeding.
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This case involves the issuance by the Massachusetts Department of Environmental
Protection (“DEP”) of a Chapter 91 Waterways Permit to the Boston Redevelopment Authority (“BRA”) for the construction of a late-night restaurant and bar on parkland at Long
Wharf in Boston. In their complaint the plaintiﬀs have alleged that they are ten residents
of the Commonwealth, at least ﬁve of whom are residents of the City of Boston, that they
have claimed damage to the environment and that they were parties to DEP adjudicatory
proceeding which is the basis for their appeal. They have also alleged that parkland and
open space will be damaged by the enclosure and expansion of a shade structure for the
construction of the restaurant and bar with takeout service and outdoor table service.
These allegations place the plaintiﬀs squarely within the purview of G.L. c. 30A §10A,
which provides as follows:
Notwithstanding the provisions of section ten, not less than ten persons may intervene in any adjudicatory proceeding as deﬁned in section one, in which damage
to the environment as deﬁned in section seven A of chapter two hundred and
fourteen, is or might be at issue; provided, however, that such intervention shall
be limited to the issue of damage to the environment and the elimination or reduction thereof in order that any decision in such proceeding shall include the
disposition of such issue.
In any proceeding pursuant to chapter 91, at least 5 of the 10 persons shall reside
in the municipality in which the license or permitted activity is located.
The intervention shall clearly and speciﬁcally state the facts and grounds for intervening and the relief sought, and each intervening person shall ﬁle an aﬀidavit
stating the intent to be part of the group and to be represented by its authorized
representative.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, any intervener under this
section may introduce evidence, present witnesses and make written or oral argument, except that the agency may exclude repetitive or irrelevant material. Any
such intervener shall be considered a party to the original proceeding for the purposes of notice and any other procedural rights applicable to such proceeding under the provisions of this chapter, including speciﬁcally the right of appeal (emphasis
and paragraph breaks added).
G.L. c. 214 §7A, which is referenced in G.L. c. 30A §10A, deﬁnes damage to the environment in a broad way to include, inter alia, damage to open spaces and parks.
The provisions of G.L. c. 30A §10A have been incorporated into the DEP regulations in
several places. DEP’s adjudicatory-proceedings regulations at 310 CMR 1.01(7)(f) include
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a section entitled “Intervention to Protect the Environment Pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A
§10A” which mirrors the language of the statute. The DEP’s Waterways regulations, at
310 CMR 9.17(1)(c), also refer to G.L. c.30A, §10A. The deﬁnition section at 310 CMR 9.02
deﬁnes a “party” as “…the applicant, any person allowed by the Department to intervene
pursuant to M.G.L. c.30A, §1, or any ten citizens allowed by the Department to intervene
pursuant to M.G.L. c. 30A, §10A. The appeals section at 310 CMR 9.17 (1) lists the persons
who have the right to an adjudicatory hearing concerning a decision to grant or deny a
license or permit and includes “ten residents of the Commonwealth, pursuant to M.G.L.
c. 30A, §10A…” 310 CMR 9.17(1)(c).
There are numerous cases involving analogous proceedings in which parties to agency
administrative hearings have been deemed to have standing to seek judicial review of the
agency decisions. In Schoolman v. Health Facilities Appeals Board, 10 Mass. App. Ct. 799
(1980), a group of ten taxpayers participated in a hearing before Health Facilities Review
Board under a statutory grant of authority. They then sought judicial review of the Board’s
decision pursuant to G.L. c. 30A §14. The defendants argued that the ten taxpayers did not
have standing, stating that standing traditionally depended upon a showing that a private
legal right had been infringed. The Appeals Court stated that “[t]here can be no serious
question that the Legislature has the power to confer standing to sue upon ten taxpayers of
the Commonwealth,” citing Barrows v. Farnum’s Stage Lines, Inc., 254 Mass. 240, 243 (1926),
10 Mass. App. Ct. at 804 and concluded that the ten taxpayers had the requisite standing
to seek judicial review.
In a case dealing with the standing of a citizen’s group and other individuals to appeal a decision of the department of Public Utilities, the Supreme Judicial Court set out the
standard for determining standing to seek judicial review and stated, in part: “Our determination whether one is a party to an adjudicatory proceeding, for purposes of standing
to seek review of the administrative decision reached in that adjudicatory proceeding, is
guided by G.L. c. 30A, §1(3), which deﬁnes a party to an adjudicatory proceeding as…(b)
any other person who as a matter of constitutional law or by any provision of the General
Laws is entitled to participate fully in the proceeding (emphasis added), and who…makes
an appearance; “ Save the Bay at 673. The standards set out in Save the Bay were repeated
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approvingly in Toﬁas v. Energy Facilities Siting Board, 435 Mass. 340, 346 (2001).
The materials submitted by the defendant BRA focus on the fact that the plaintiﬀs
have not personally suﬀered legal harm. However, this is not the standard set out in
G.L. c. 30A §10A and it is clear that the legislature may provide a statutory grant of standing to obviate the requirement of showing legal harm. Gerte v. Department of Public Health,
18 Mass. App. Ct. 901, 902 (1984). In an unpublished decision the Appeals Court speciﬁcally stated that reliance on a zoning approach of establishing standing is misplaced when
dealing with a statutory claim by ten taxpayers. Daly v. McCarthy, 63 Mass. App. Ct. 1103
(2005). The primary cases relied on by the defendant BRA, Higgins v. DEP, 64 Mass. App.
Ct. 754 (2005) and Hertz v. EOEEA, 73 Mass. App. Ct. 770 (2009) involve individual property owners who made claims of injury to their personal property rights. These cases are
simply not apposite to an analysis of the plaintiﬀ’s complaint, which is based on a statutory
grant of standing.

II. Plaintiﬀs have standing in mandamus to maintain their new claims
Plaintiﬀs are, with this opposition, also submitting to the opposing parties a motion under
Rule 9A to amend plaintiﬀs’ complaint, based on newly discovered oﬀicial documents in
state and federal archives. Aﬀidavit of Sanjoy Mahajan (Attachment C), paragraphs 4–5
(on ﬁnding the new documents). 4 In light of the SJC’s ruling in Mahajan v. DEP, 464 Mass.
604 (2013) that Article 97 does not bar DEP from issuing a license, plaintiﬀs have eliminated the corresponding claim in their amended complaint. The new claims are summarized here:
1. The BRA has failed to comply with the BRA–DEM agreement authorized by legislation
and executed on September 13, 1984. The agreement calls for the BRA to record a
99-year easement on behalf of the Commonwealth for public open-space use on Long
Wharf. BRA–DEM Agreement (Attachment G), paragraph Q at p. 11.

4 A copy of the motion is attached to this opposition as Attachment D; a copy of the amended

complaint is attached as Attachment E; and a copy of the accompanying memorandum is
attached as Attachment F.
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2. The BRA has failed to comply with Section 6(f) of the federal Land and Water Conservation Fund and the corresponding provisions in the Code of Federal Regulations.
The seaward end of Long Wharf, including the entire project site, was reconstructed
with federal funds under the Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF) Act of 1965.
This act requires that the land be maintained in public outdoor recreation in perpetuity. The protected area is the dark shaded area shown in the map provided by the
federal government. 6(f) map for Long Wharf, dated March 27, 1980 (Attachment H);
transmittal email from National Park Service (Attachment I).
3. The BRA has failed to obtain the plain and explicit legislation required under the doctrine of prior public use before lands devoted to one public use are devoted to an inconsistent use.
4. The BRA has failed to comply with Article 97, requiring a two-thirds vote of the legislature before any disposition. Although the Mahajan court ruled that Long Wharf was
not protected by Article 97, it did so without the beneﬁt of the BRA–DEM Agreement
and the LWCF 6(f) map discovered after oral argument.
For all these claims, plaintiﬀs’ standing for relief by mandamus is because plaintiﬀs seek
to enforce duties owed to the public generally. In the words of Ronan, J., in Pilgrim Real
Estate v. Superintendent of Police of Boston, 330 Mass. 250, 251 (1953):
The apparent object of the petition is to secure on the part of the [BRA] the performance of a public duty which, if it exists, was owed by [the BRA] to all the citizens.
In such a proceeding, the petitioner is a nominal party, for the real party in interest
is all the people.
Further, at p. 251:
It has been frequently decided that where the object of a petition is to procure the
enforcement of the law, a petitioner `without special interest in the subject matter
independent of the rights of the public has a standing by reason of his citizenship
to maintain a petition for a writ of mandamus to enforce a public duty of interest
to citizens generally.’ (Citations omitted.)
In Town of Concord v. Attorney General, 336 Mass. 17, 27 (1957) the SJC held that "where a
public oﬀicer owes a speciﬁc duty to the public to perform some act or service not due the
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government as such or to administer some law for the public beneﬁt which he is refusing
or failing to perform or administer any member of the public may compel by mandamus
the performance of the duty required by law."
Mandamus is indeed an extraordinary remedy and is available only where the law
provides no other adequate and eﬀectual relief. McCarthy v. Mayor of Boston, 188 Mass.
338, 340 (1905). In Mahajan, the SJC held, consistent with this court’s ruling, that Article
97 and related issues are not part of the DEP process. Thus, the 30A appeal provides no
remedy for these issues. Where the petitioner has no other adequate and eﬀective relief,
and unless he can bring a petition for a writ of mandamus, there ``would or might be a
failure of justice’’; in such cases, the writ of mandamus is properly brought. McCarthy at
340.

III. Conclusion
For the reasons set forth above, the BRA’s renewed motion to dismiss should be denied.

Respectfully submitted,
Plaintiﬀs, Pro Se
April 17, 2013
Sanjoy Mahajan
950 Massachusetts Ave, Apt 613
Cambridge MA 02139
617.849.0409
sanjoy@olin.edu
Victor Brogna
111 Atlantic Ave, Apt 310
Boston MA 02110
Stephanie Hogue
7 Henchman St Apt 402
Boston MA 02113
David A. Kubiak
5 Cleveland Place Apt 3
Boston MA 02113
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Mary McGee
46 Snow Hill St
Boston MA 02113
Anne M. Pistorio
72 North Margin St
Boston MA 02113
Thomas Schiavoni
46 Snow Hill St
Boston MA 02113
Pasqua Scibelli
19 Wiget St
Boston MA 02113
Robert Skole
Lincoln Wharf 715
357 Commercial St
Boston MA 02109
Patricia Thiboutot
100 Fulton St
Boston MA 02109
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Attachment A. Brogna aﬀidavit
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Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Suﬀolk, S.S.

Superior Court Civil No. SUCV2010-0802-H

Sanjoy Mahajan, Victor Brogna, Stephanie Hogue, David Kubiak, Mary McGee, Anne
M. Pistorio, Thomas Schiavoni, Pasqua Scibelli, Robert Skole, and Patricia Thiboutot,
Plaintiﬀs
v.
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
and
Boston Redevelopment Authority,
Defendants

Aﬀidavit of Victor Brogna
1.

My name is Victor Brogna. I am one of the plaintiﬀs in this case. The statements
sworn to herein are made of my own personal knowledge, except where I indicate
that the statement is upon information and belief and as to that statement I believe it
to be true.

2.

I live at the Mercantile Wharf Building on the Boston Waterfront.

3.

My address is 111 Atlantic Avenue, Apartment 310, Boston, MA 02110.

4.

I have lived at this address since May 1, 2012.

5.

The windows of my apartment face Christopher Columbus Park, which is directly
adjacent to Long Wharf.

1
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6.

I believe, based on the information at http://www.geodistance.com/, that the distance from my apartment to the proposed site of a restaurant/bar at the Long Wharf
Park Shade Pavilion is 420 yards.

7.

The proposed site of a restaurant/bar at the Long Wharf Park Shade Pavilion is clearly
visible from my windows at the Mercantile Wharf Building.

Signed under the penalties of perjury this 17th day of April, 2013,

2
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Attachment B. Skole aﬀidavit
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Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Suﬀolk, S.S.

Superior Court Civil No. SUCV2010-0802-H

Sanjoy Mahajan, Victor Brogna, Stephanie Hogue, David Kubiak, Mary McGee, Anne
M. Pistorio, Thomas Schiavoni, Pasqua Scibelli, Robert Skole, and Patricia Thiboutot,
Plaintiﬀs
v.
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
and
Boston Redevelopment Authority,
Defendants

Aﬀidavit of Robert Skole
1.

My name is Robert Skole. I am one of the plaintiﬀs in this case. The statements sworn
to herein are made of my own personal knowledge, except where I indicate that the
statement is upon information and belief and as to that statement I believe it to be
true.

2.

I live at Lincoln Wharf on Boston’s waterfront.

3.

My address is 357 Commercial Street, Unit 715, Boston, MA 02109.

4.

My wife and I have lived at this address since 1990.

5.

The proposed site of a restaurant/bar at the Long Wharf Park Shade Pavilion is clearly
visible from our deck and windows at Lincoln Wharf.

6.

During our 23-year residence at Lincoln Wharf, we have directly experienced how
sound travels over the water.

1
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7.

We already hear noise from waterfront bars and party boats, especially in the evening
and at night.

8.

Based on our long experience, I believe that we would hear noise from a restaurant/bar with outdoor tables at the present location of the Long Wharf Park Shade
Pavilion.

Signed under the penalties of perjury this 17th day of April, 2013,

2
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Attachment C. Mahajan aﬀidavit
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Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Suﬀolk, S.S.

Superior Court Civil No. SUCV2010-0802-H

Sanjoy Mahajan, Victor Brogna, Stephanie Hogue, David Kubiak, Mary McGee, Anne
M. Pistorio, Thomas Schiavoni, Pasqua Scibelli, Robert Skole, and Patricia Thiboutot,
Plaintiﬀs
v.
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
and
Boston Redevelopment Authority,
Defendants

Aﬀidavit of Sanjoy Mahajan
1.

My name is Sanjoy Mahajan. I am one of the plaintiﬀs in this case. The statements
sworn to herein are made of my own personal knowledge, except where I indicate
that they are based on information and belief and as to that statement I believe it to
be true.

2.

From May 2008 until December 2011, my primary residence was 5 Jackson Avenue,
Boston, MA 02113.

3.

Since December 2011, I have lived at 950 Massachusetts Ave, Apt 613, Cambridge,
MA 02139.

4.

On November 15, 2012, in the week following oral arguments in the SJC, I found the
agreement executed September 13, 1984 and entitled ``Agreement between the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Acting by and through the Department of Environmental Management and the Boston Redevelopment Authority Relative to Development
and Management of Public Open Space on and Adjacent to Long Wharf, Boston.’’

1
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5.

I found this document in the LWCF ﬁles held at the EOEEA oﬀices, 100 Cambridge
Street, Boston, MA 02114.

6.

In the same ﬁles, I found a record of a vote authorizing the BRA director to execute
said agreement. This record stated that said agreement is Document No. 4440 in the
Document Book of the Authority.

7.

On December 20, 2012, as the best Christmas present that I have ever received, the National Park Service in Philadelphia sent me the LWCF 6(f) boundary map for LWCF
Project #25-00295 (Long Wharf), dated March 27, 1980, showing that the entire seaward end of Long Wharf, including the project site, is within the 6(f) boundary area.

8.

This map also is the map in an untitled document that I found in the LWCF ﬁles at
EOEEA and that I believe to be the BRA’s LWCF proposal for Long Wharf.

Signed under the penalties of perjury this 17th day of April, 2013,

2
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Attachment D. Copy of motion to amend complaint
The motion to amend the complaint, as ﬁled with the BRA and DEP pursuant to Rule 9A,
is here attached (with duplicative attachments elided).
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Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Suﬀolk, S.S.

Superior Court Civil No. SUCV2010-0802-H

Sanjoy Mahajan, Victor Brogna, Stephanie Hogue, David Kubiak, Mary McGee, Anne
M. Pistorio, Thomas Schiavoni, Pasqua Scibelli, Robert Skole, and Patricia Thiboutot,
Plaintiﬀs
v.
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
and
Boston Redevelopment Authority,
Defendants

Plaintiﬀs’ Motion to Amend Complaint
Plaintiﬀs move, pursuant to rule M.R.Civ.P. 15(a), for leave of the court to amend their
complaint. Rule 15(a) states that ``leave shall be freely given when justice so requires.’’ In
support of their motion, the plaintiﬀs submit the following reasons:
1. Since the proceedings began in 2008, two plaintiﬀs have moved, one (Brogna) within
Boston and one (Mahajan) from Boston to Cambridge. Aﬀidavit of Victor Brogna (
of plaintiﬀs’ Amended Complaint), paragraphs 3–4; Aﬀidavit of Sanjoy Mahajan ( of
plaintiﬀs’ Amended Complaint), paragraphs 2–3. The amended complaint contains
the updated addresses.
2. The Supreme Judicial Court, in Mahajan v. DEP, 464 Mass. 604 (2013), ruled that DEP’s
Chapter 91 licenses are not an Article 97 disposition. Thus, plaintiﬀs have eliminated
the corresponding claims from the amended complaint.
3. After oral argument concluded in the Supreme Judicial Court, two documents relevant
to the protected status of Long Wharf were discovered by plaintiﬀ Mahajan in state and
federal archives. Aﬀidavit of Sanjoy Mahajan, paragraphs 4–7. The two documents are:
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a. The federal map showing the area of Long Wharf protected as ``public outdoor
recreation in perpetuity’’ under Section 6(f) of the federal Land and Water Conservation Fund Act of 1965. 6f Boundary Map, dated March 27, 1980 ( of Plaintiﬀs’
Amended Complaint). This area includes the entire seaward end of Long Wharf,
including the shade pavilion and entire project site. Transmittal email from NPS (
of Plaintiﬀs’ Amended Complaint).
b. The agreement executed September 13, 1984 between the DEM and BRA in which
the BRA covenanted to record an easement ``on behalf of the Commonwealth, placing a restriction for public open space use on the title of the Authority to the Wharf
site . . .’’ BRA–DEM agreement ( of Plaintiﬀs’ Amended Complaint), paragraph Q
at p. 11.
Plaintiﬀs submit herewith a proposed amended complaint and memorandum in support,
and request a hearing on their motion.

Respectfully submitted,
Plaintiﬀs, Pro Se
April 17, 2013
Sanjoy Mahajan
950 Massachusetts Ave, Apt 613
Cambridge MA 02139
617.849.0409
sanjoy@olin.edu
Victor Brogna
111 Atlantic Ave, Apt 310
Boston MA 02110
Stephanie Hogue
7 Henchman St Apt 402
Boston MA 02113
David A. Kubiak
5 Cleveland Place Apt 3
Boston MA 02113
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Mary McGee
46 Snow Hill St
Boston MA 02113
Anne M. Pistorio
72 North Margin St
Boston MA 02113
Thomas Schiavoni
46 Snow Hill St
Boston MA 02113
Pasqua Scibelli
19 Wiget St
Boston MA 02113
Robert Skole
Lincoln Wharf 715
357 Commercial St
Boston MA 02109
Patricia Thiboutot
100 Fulton St
Boston MA 02109
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Attachment E. Copy of amended complaint
The amended complaint, as ﬁled with the BRA and DEP pursuant to Rule 9A, is here
attached (with duplicative attachments elided).
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Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Suﬀolk, S.S.

Superior Court Civil No. SUCV2010-0802-H

Sanjoy Mahajan, Victor Brogna, Stephanie Hogue, David Kubiak, Mary McGee, Anne
M. Pistorio, Thomas Schiavoni, Pasqua Scibelli, Robert Skole, and Patricia Thiboutot,
Plaintiﬀs
v.
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
and
Boston Redevelopment Authority,
Defendants

Amended complaint

Complaint
1.

This is an action for judicial review of a ﬁnal decision of the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (“the Department” or “DEP”) issuing a Chapter 91
waterways license to the Boston Redevelopment Authority (“BRA”) for the construction of a late-night restaurant and bar on parkland at Long Wharf in Boston, Massachusetts. Plaintiﬀs ask this Court to ﬁnd that the Department’s ﬁnal decision is based
on errors of law, is not supported by substantial evidence, violates constitutional provisions, exceeds the agency’s statutory authority, is based upon unlawful procedure,
and is arbitrary and capricious and an abuse of discretion.

2.

Plaintiﬀs also seek declaratory relief pursuant to G.L. c. 231A §1–5, and mandamus
pursuant to G.L. c. 249 §5.
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Parties
3.

PLAINTIFFS, all residents of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, nine of whom
reside in Boston’s North End neighborhood and one who resides in Cambridge, are
as follows:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.
i.
j.

4.

Sanjoy Mahajan of 950 Massachusetts Ave, Apt 613, Cambridge, MA 02139
Victor Brogna of 111 Atlantic Ave, Apt 310, Boston MA 02110
David Kubiak of 5 Cleveland Place Apt 3, Boston MA 02113
Stephanie Hogue of 7 Henchman St., Apt 402, Boston MA 02113
Mary McGee of 46 Snow Hill St., Boston MA 02113
Anne M. Pistorio of 72 North Margin St., Boston MA 02113
Thomas Schiavoni of 46 Snow Hill St., Boston MA 02113
Pasqua Scibelli of 19 Wiget St, Boston MA 02113
Robert Skole of Lincoln Wharf 715, 357 Commercial St, Boston MA 02109
Patricia Thiboutot of 100 Fulton St., Boston MA 02109

DEFENDANT, Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection, is a state agency
established by G.L. c. 21A, which has regulatory authority over activities pursuant to
G.L. c. 91. The Department’s headquarters are located at One Winter Street, Boston,
MA 02108.

5.

DEFENDANT, Boston Redevelopment Authority, is a public entity created by statute
for planning and development in the city of Boston. BRA headquarters are at Boston
City Hall, Floor 9, City Hall Plaza, Boston MA 02201.

Jurisdiction and venue
6.

The Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to G.L. c. 30A
§14(1), G.L. c. 214 §1, G.L. c. 184 §32, and G.L. c. 249 §5.

7.
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Venue for this action lies in Suﬀolk County in accordance with G.L. c. 30A §14(1)(c).

8.

Plaintiﬀs have properly ﬁled the original complaint within thirty days of the receipt of
the Department’s ﬁnal decision issued by DEP Commissioner Laurie Burt on January
29, 2010.

Background and statement of facts
9.

The park at issue is located at the seaward (eastern) end of Long Wharf in Boston
Harbor. The park is utilized extensively by residents and visitors to enjoy marine
sights and sounds and for other passive-recreation purposes. It is unique among the
wharves and parks in the downtown/waterfront area in the combination it provides
of expansive harbor views –- surrounded on three sides by water –- and a spacious,
quiet public space in which to enjoy them.

10. The park at Long Wharf is designated ‘Protected Open Space’ in the City of Boston
Parks Department Open Space Plan 2002–-2006 and in its draft Open Space Plan 2008–-2012.
On both plans, Long Wharf is marked as subject to Article 97 of the Amendments to
the Massachusetts Constitution (hereafter Article 97), the Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF), Chapter 91, and the Wetlands Protection Act.
11. The BRA sought a Chapter 91 license allowing it to enclose and expand the current
shade structure in the park, in order to construct a late-night restaurant and bar with
takeout service and outdoor table service.
12. The Executive Oﬀice of Environmental Aﬀairs (“EOEA”) Article 97 Land Disposition
Policy (February 19, 1998) mandates that the EOEA and its agencies shall not change
the control or use of any right or interest in Article 97 land unless the change has been
approved by a two-thirds vote of the Massachusetts Legislature.
13. On or about September 17, 2008, DEP granted the BRA a Chapter 91 waterways license to construct a 4,655 square-foot restaurant and bar in this park.
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14. The BRA had been granted 14 zoning variances by the Boston Zoning Board of Appeals to allow for, among other permissions, live entertainment, take-out service, and
food and alcohol service until 1am at the proposed restaurant.
15. Numerous restaurants and bars exist within 1 mile of the park.
16. The restaurant-and-bar proposal with its substantive variances did not conform to the
requirements of the City of Boston Municipal Harbor Plan.
17. On or about October 9, 2008, pursuant to G.L. c. 30A §10A, the plaintiﬀs, as ten residents of the Commonwealth, at least ﬁve of whom reside in the City of Boston, alleging damage to the environment, appealed the DEP’s decision to award the BRA the
Chapter 91 license.
18. The DEP held a hearing on the appeal on February 24, March 2, and March 9, 2009.
19. On or about January 29, 2010, the DEP issued a ﬁnal decision aﬀirming the grant of
the Chapter 91 license for construction of a restaurant and bar.
20. The plaintiﬀs, who were all parties to the DEP proceeding, are aggrieved by the Department’s ﬁnal decision.

Causes of action
21. The BRA owes a duty to the public to preserve the seaward end of Long Wharf as
public open space and has failed to do so.
i. The BRA has failed to obey an agreed deed restriction for public open space at
the seaward end of Long Wharf. This deed restriction is required by its September 1984 contract with DEM (which contract was authorized by legislation). This
de-facto release of the open-space restriction is also in violation of G.L. c. 184 §32.
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On information and belief, plaintiﬀs allege that BRA has failed to record an easement for public open space, as required by its September 13, 1984 agreement with
the Department of Environmental Management (DEM), which contract was authorized by legislation.
ii. The BRA has failed to obtain project approval from the United States Secretary of
the Interior, as required by the LWCF Act, section 6(f), by 36 CFR 59.3, and by its
contract with the Commonwealth when it accepted the LWCF funds. This de-facto
release of an open-space restriction is also in violation of G.L. c. 184 §32.
iii. The BRA has failed to get legislative approval, by a simple majority, for a change
of use, as required by the common-law doctrine of prior public use.
iv. The BRA has failed to follow the requirements of Article 97 to get a two-thirds
roll-call vote of the legislature authorizing the disposition.
22. The DEP’s ﬁnal decision is contrary to its own regulations, is based upon errors of
law and unlawful procedure, is unsupported by substantial evidence, and is arbitrary,
capricious, and an abuse of discretion. Among other deﬁciencies, the decision failed
to ﬁnd that the project violated the Municipal Harbor Plan because of the substantive
variances required; improperly credited the project with beneﬁts provided by pre-existing projects; and failed to consider the eﬀect of the project on view corridors from
sites of “concentrated public activity.”

Prayers for relief
Plaintiﬀs request:
23. that the Court order the BRA to perform its written agreement with the Commonwealth, for which it obtained $9 million from the Commonwealth in 1984, to maintain Long Wharf as public open space; and, if it has not already done so, to record the
easement required by the BRA–DEM agreement.
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24. that the Court declare that the BRA failed to follow the proper procedure for changes
of use or control in a park, usurped Legislative authority, including the doctrine of
prior public use, and violated Article 97 of the Amendments to the Massachusetts
Constitution.
25. that the Court declare that Long Wharf is subject to Article 97, to the doctrine of prior
public use, and to the Land and Water Conservation Fund Act.
26. that the Court order the BRA to cancel any outstanding lease to a restaurant operator,
and to refrain from any construction work or change of use at the seaward end of
Long Wharf until the above conditions precedent are satisﬁed.
27. that the Court ﬁnd that the Department’s decision was contrary to its own regulations,
was based upon errors of law, was made upon unlawful procedure, was unsupported
by substantial evidence, and was arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion.
28. that the Court declare the Department’s ﬁnal decision with respect to the issuance of
a Chapter 91 Waterways permit to be null and void and in violation of regulatory and
statutory provisions.
29. such other relief at law or in equity as the Court may allow, including the recovery of
costs and award of attorney fees.

Respectfully submitted,
Plaintiﬀs, Pro Se
April 17, 2013
Sanjoy Mahajan
950 Massachusetts Ave, Apt 613
Cambridge MA 02139
617.849.0409
sanjoy@olin.edu

6

36

Victor Brogna
111 Atlantic Ave, Apt 310
Boston MA 02110
Stephanie Hogue
7 Henchman St Apt 402
Boston MA 02113
David A. Kubiak
5 Cleveland Place Apt 3
Boston MA 02113
Mary McGee
46 Snow Hill St
Boston MA 02113
Anne M. Pistorio
72 North Margin St
Boston MA 02113
Thomas Schiavoni
46 Snow Hill St
Boston MA 02113
Pasqua Scibelli
19 Wiget St
Boston MA 02113
Robert Skole
Lincoln Wharf 715
357 Commercial St
Boston MA 02109
Patricia Thiboutot
100 Fulton St
Boston MA 02109
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Attachment F. Copy of memorandum accompanying
amended complaint
The memorandum accompanying the amended complaint, as ﬁled with the BRA and DEP
pursuant to Rule 9A, is here attached.
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Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Suﬀolk, S.S.

Superior Court Civil No. SUCV2010-0802-H

Sanjoy Mahajan, Victor Brogna, Stephanie Hogue, David Kubiak, Mary McGee, Anne
M. Pistorio, Thomas Schiavoni, Pasqua Scibelli, Robert Skole, and Patricia Thiboutot,
Plaintiﬀs
v.
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
and
Boston Redevelopment Authority,
Defendants

Plaintiﬀs’ memorandum of law in support of motion to
amend complaint
Plaintiﬀs submit the following memorandum in support of their motion to amend their
complaint. In particular, plaintiﬀs explain here why the claims should be sustained.

I. The BRA’s proposed restaurant and bar violates its covenant,
purchased with $9 million of state funds, to preserve Long Wharf as
public open space
On September 13, 1984, the BRA and the Commonwealth—acting through the Department of Environmental Management (DEM) 1—executed an agreement regarding the redevelopment of Long Wharf. Agreement between the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Acting by and through the Department of Environmental Management and the Boston Redevelopment Authority Relative to Development and Management of Public Open Space
on and Adjacent to Long Wharf, Boston (``BRA–DEM Agreement,’’ of plaintiﬀs’ Amended
1 The legal successor to the DEM is the Department of Conservation and Recreation (DCR).

G.L. c. 21 §1.
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Complaint). This agreement, authorized by Section 19A of Chapter 589 of the Acts of 1983,
called for the DEM to provide the BRA with $9 million ($7 million from the legislature pursuant to the cited act, and $2 million that the DEM had available from previous legislative
appropriations). BRA–DEM Agreement, pp. 1, 3. In return, the BRA agreed to
execute and duly record in the Suﬀolk Registry of Deeds an easement, on behalf
of the Commonwealth, placing a restriction for public open space use on the title
of the Authority to the Wharf site, as described in Exhibit A, for the duration of
this Agreement [99 years] ... .
Id., paragraph Q at p. 11.
The BRA further agreed to provide an annual maintenance fund of at least $100,000,
adjusted annually for inﬂation; and to maintain Long Wharf, unless it turns over the responsibility to a suitably funded nonproﬁt entity. Id., paragraph E at p. 13. The BRA’s
proposed lessee and restaurant-and-bar operator is not a nonproﬁt entity.
Furthermore, the agreement created on Long Wharf a conservation restriction:
. . .a right, either in perpetuity or for a speciﬁed number of years, whether or not
stated in the form of a restriction, easement, covenant or condition, in any deed,
will or other instrument executed by or on behalf of the owner of the land or in
any order of taking, appropriate to retaining land or water areas predominantly
in their natural, scenic or open condition . . .."
G.L. c. 184 §31. The de-facto release of the conservation restriction, by constructing an
unauthorized restaurant, violates G.L. c. 184 §32: ``No restriction that has been purchased
with state funds or which has been granted in consideration of a loan or grant made with
state funds shall be released unless it is repurchased by the land owner at its then current
fair market value.’’

II. The BRA proposed restaurant and bar violates federal regulations
and law
In 1980, the City/BRA applied to the federal Land and Water Conservation Fund (LWCF)
for funds to reconstruct Long Wharf. Application for Federal Assistance (Attachment A).
For this ﬁrst phase of the project, the total project cost was $1,751,000; the LWCF awarded
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the City/BRA $825,000 (via the state). LWCF Agreement, dated May 15, 1981, between
the Commonwealth and the Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service, 2 available in
Tab 5, pp. 4–5, of Defendant BRA’s Supplemental Filing to Dismiss Plaintiﬀ’s Article 97
Claims, (``BRA’s Supplemental Filing,’’ a very large black binder).
The City/BRA and the Commonwealth agreed to follow the LWCF provisions. LWCF
agreement between the BRA and the Commonwealth, BRA’s Supplemental Filing, Tab 5,
pp. 2–3. The LWCF project-agreement general provisions provide that the "State agrees
that the property described in the project agreement and the signed and dated project
boundary map made part of that agreement is being acquired or developed with Land and
Water Conservation Fund assistance ...and that, without approval of the Secretary, it shall
...be maintained in public outdoor recreation in perpetuity ...." LWCF Project Agreement
General Provisions, in the BRA’s Supplemental Filing, Tab 5, p. 8 (counting nonblank sides
after the tab divider; paragraph II.B). 3
This boundary map is also called the 6(f) map, in reference to the protection provided
by Section 6(f)(3) of the LWCF Act of 1965:
No property acquired or developed with assistance under this section shall, without the approval of the Secretary [of the US Department of the Interior], be converted to other than public outdoor recreation uses. The Secretary shall approve
such conversion only if he ﬁnds it to be in accord with the then existing comprehensive statewide outdoor recreation plan and only upon such conditions as he
deems necessary to assure the substitution of other recreation properties of at least
equal fair market value and of reasonably equivalent usefulness and location.
The National Park Service (NPS) recently provided plaintiﬀ Mahajan the 6(f) map ( of
plaintiﬀs’ Amended Complaint). On it, the dark shaded area (marked Phase 1) is the 6(f)
protected area. Transmittal email from National Park Service ( of plaintiﬀs’ Amended
Complaint). The federal courts have ruled that a conversion includes ``instances in which
[p]roperty interests are conveyed for non-public outdoor recreation uses’’ (internal quote
2 This agency’s functions are now handled by the National Park Service.
3 Also available online at

http://www.nps.gov/ncrc/programs/lwcf/forms/lwcf_general_provisions.frm.pdf
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marks omitted). Friends of the Shawangunks v. William Clark, Secretary, United States Department of the Interior, 754 F.2d 446, 451 (1985). Conversions have to follow the extensive
requirements set forth in 36 CFR 59.3 (Attachment B).

III. Long Wharf is protected under the doctrine of prior public use
and by Article 97
The two public-trust doctrines, Article 97 and prior public use, are similar, and often turn
on the same facts and result in almost the same legal conclusions. However, because the
SJC in Mahajan v. DEP, 464 Mass. 604 (2013) ruled that Article 97 does not apply to Long
Wharf, a holding that plaintiﬀs challenge with newly discovered documents, as explained
below, it is particularly important in this case to analyze the applicability of each doctrine.
A fundamental similarity between the doctrines is that, under either doctrine, authorizing legislation must follow the principles enunciated in Robbins v. Department of Public
Works, 355 Mass. 328 (1969). The substantive diﬀerences between Article 97 protection and
protection under prior public use are as follows:
1. Article 97 protection requires that the land or easement be taken or acquired for natural-resources purposes. Article 97 (``Lands and easements taken or acquired for such
purposes shall not be used for other purposes or otherwise disposed of . . .’’). Prior-public-use protection requires that the land be designated for one public use, which need
not be the purpose for which the land was taken or acquired. Robbins at 330. Thus, land
could be subject to prior public purpose but not to Article 97—for example, land held
by a city in its corporate capacity that, without any legislative taking or acquisition, it
dedicates to park use.
2. Article 97, perhaps in return for its more stringent requirement for applicability, requires a supermajority legislative vote. Article 97 (``laws enacted by a two thirds vote’’).
Prior public use requires only a simple majority (``plain and explicit legislation’’). Robbins at 330.
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3. Article 97 protects against changes of use and dispositions, which are more general
than changes of use. For example, a lease of Article 97 land, even if it did not change
the use, requires an Article 97 vote. In contrast, prior public use protects only against
changes of use inconsistent with the prior use.
Long Wharf is, for the reasons set forth in this section, protected under both doctrines.
Although the SJC ruled in Mahajan that Long Wharf is not protected under Article 97, it did
not have two crucial pieces of information from the BRA: the BRA–DEM agreement, and
the correct LWCF 6(f) map. The BRA did not provide these documents to the SJC. 4 Instead,
they were discovered through the researches of plaintiﬀ Mahajan, but only following oral
argument in the SJC. Aﬀidavit of Sanjoy Mahajan ( of plaintiﬀs’ Amended Complaint).
With this information, and based on the holdings in Mahajan, there are four moments
when Long Wharf came under the protection of one or both public-trust doctrines, Article
97 or prior public use—with only one time and only one doctrine suﬀicient for a ﬁnding
that mandamus lies against the BRA.
A. Long Wharf became public-trust land on May 15, 1981, when the BRA and the
Commonwealth executed the LWCF agreement
Long Wharf became public-trust land on May 15, 1981, when the BRA and the Commonwealth executed the LWCF agreement. This question was reached at oral argument before
the SJC, but the SJC did not have full information: Only the incorrect LWCF map was available, and BRA counsel therefore argued that the project site—by which counsel meant only
4 The BRA–DEM agreement was signed by the BRA director and, plaintiﬀs believe, based

on other documents in the state LWCF ﬁles, is in the Document Book of the Authority as
Document No. 4440. Aﬀidavit of Sanjoy Mahajan, paragraph 6 ( of plaintiﬀs’ Amended
Complaint). However, the BRA provided only the text of the act authorizing the agreement, commenting ``There is no legislative requirements set for the in the Act relative to
open space.’’ BRA’s Supplemental Filing, Tab 8.
Plaintiﬀs further believe, based on the state LWCF ﬁles, that the LWCF 6(f) map is a
copy of the map in BRA’s proposal to the state and federal authorities for LWCF funds.
Aﬀidavit of Sanjoy Mahajan, paragraph 8.
5
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the restaurant/bar and outdoor seating area—was not on the (incorrectly) limited LWCF
area. Transcript of oral argument, p. 9, lines 16–17 (Attachment C).
However, it is now known that the entire seaward end of Long Wharf, as well as a
portion of the Harborwalk, is protected by the LWCF Act, by the associated federal regulations (36 CFR 59.1–4), and by the corresponding open-space restriction (discussed at
pp. 2ﬀ). This restriction is a dedication to one public purpose (to open space use), placing
the seaward end of Long Wharf, including the entire project site, under the protection of
the doctrine of prior public use.
The LWCF open-space restriction—the right of the public to use Long Wharf for ``public outdoor recreation in perpetuity’’—is plainly an easement. By the language of Article
97 itself (``Lands and easements taken or acquired for such purposes shall not be used for
other purposes or otherwise disposed of . . .’’) and of the Opinions of the Justices to the Senate,
383 Mass. 895, 918 (1981) (``. . .the two-thirds vote requirement . . .applies only to the disposal of lands and easements.’’), the restriction may not be disposed of without an Article
97 vote. This conclusion is acknowledged by BRA’s counsel. At oral argument before the
SJC, BRA’s counsel conceded that LWCF funding would trigger Article 97 protection:
So a portion of Long Wharf is protected by Article 97 . . .And the . . .area is protected speciﬁcally in that scenario because of the acceptance of federal funds, under the Land and Water Conservation Fund . . ..
Transcript of oral argument, pp. 9 (line 15)–10 (line 2) (Attachment C). 5 The new informa-

5 The de-facto release of the LWCF conservation restriction, by constructing an unautho-

rized restaurant, violates G.L. c. 184 §32 on repaying state funds used in its acquisition
(LWCF funds ﬂow through the state, so the LWCF funds are also state funds).
Furthermore, even an Article 97 vote is insuﬀicient to release the LWCF conservation
restriction, because this restriction is a result of federal law and regulation and of a contract
between the state and the federal government. States, except in exceptional circumstances
not present here, may not impair the obligation of contracts, especially their own contracts.
U.S. Const., Art. I, 10, cl. 1 (``No State shall . . . pass any . . . Law impairing the Obligation
of Contracts . . . .’’); United States Trust Co. v. New Jersey, 431 U.S. 1, 31 (1977) (". . .[A] State
is not free to impose a drastic impairment [on its own contract] when an evident and more
moderate course would serve its purposes equally well.").
6
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tion is that the protection portion includes the whole seaward end of the wharf, which
includes the project site.
B. Long Wharf became public-trust land on September 13, 1984, with the execution
of the BRA–DEM Agreement
Long Wharf also became public-trust land on September 13, 1984, with the execution of
the BRA–DEM Agreement (discussed at pp. 1ﬀ and available as of plaintiﬀs’ Amended
Complaint). This agreement required the BRA to record an easement on its title to Long
Wharf and on behalf of the Commonwealth for public open-space use.
For several reasons, this interest in land is an easement for Article 97 purposes. The
ﬁrst reason is the text of the agreement itself, which gives the Commonwealth, acting on
behalf of the public, an easement for public open-space use. The second reason is the text
of the act authorizing the agreement. The act authorizes the funds in order to construct the
``waterfront component of the Boston Harbor Islands State Park. . ..’’ Acts of 1983, Chapter
589, Section 19A (emphasis supplied). The third reason is the legal character of the DEM.
The DEM’s enabling act provides:
There shall be a department of environmental management, in this chapter called
the "department’’. It shall be the duty of said department to exercise general care
and oversight of the natural resources of the commonwealth and of its adjacent
waters; to make investigations and to carry on research relative thereto; and to
propose and carry out measures for the protection, conservation, control, use, increase, and development thereof. ...
The department shall also be concerned with the development of public recreation
as related to such natural resources; and shall have control and supervision of such
parks, forests, and areas of recreational, scenic, or historic signiﬁcance as may be
from time to time committed to it.
G.L. c. 21 §1, prior to 2009. Thus, the DEM cannot acquire any arbitrary easement; rather, it
can acquire only easements consistent its purposes, which are all Article 97 purposes. By
acquiring a conservation restriction, in particular an easement, from the BRA, that easement became subject to the two-thirds vote requirement of Article 97.
Separate from Article 97, the legislative appropriation for one public use (public open
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space)—being a ``a prior public or private grant restricted to a particular public purpose’’—places Long Wharf under the protection of prior public use. Muir v. Leominster, 2
Mass. App. Ct. 587, 591 (1974).
C. Long Wharf became public-trust land in 1989, when the BRA dedicated Long
Wharf Park
Long Wharf became public-trust land in 1989, when the BRA dedicated Long Wharf Park.
This reasoning was discussed at oral argument before the SJC, but BRA’s counsel argued that this park dedication applied only to a small part of Long Wharf, because the
``plaque does not deﬁne the boundaries of the area that is a park.’’ Transcript of oral argument, pp. 11 (lines 9–11) (Attachment C). However, the dedication plaque contains the
LWCF logo, the text ``Land and Water Conservation Fund,’’ and the text ``National Park
Service,’’ which is the federal agency that administers the LWCF Act. Photo of Bronze
Plaque at Long Wharf, in plaintiﬀs’ Additional Exhibits and References Relevant to Article 97 Protection. A reasonable inference is that the dedication area is at least equal to the
LWCF-funded area. Because LWCF funds applied to the entire seaward end of the wharf,
including the project site, the entire seaward end of the wharf is part of the formally dedicated park area. Thus, following the test in Muir v. Leominster at 592 (``formal dedication
by the city of this area as park land’’), which is cited approvingly in Mahajan at 617, the
site is protected under prior public use.
D. Long Wharf became impressed with public-trust status in 1970, when the BRA
took it by eminent domain
In Mahajan, at 620, the SJC ruled that the language of a taking order alone is not necessarily
determinative of Article 97’s applicability. Rather, ``the ultimate use to which the land is
put may provide the best evidence of the purposes of the taking, notwithstanding the
language of the original order of taking or accompanying urban renewal plan.’’ Ibid. The
SJC thereby declared new law regarding the interpretation of Article 97. However, the SJC
had to apply the new law to the old information, without the beneﬁt of the BRA–DEM
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Agreement or the correct LWCF 6(f) map.
With these documents, we know that the ultimate use at Long Wharf is public parkland. This use is the result of a $9 million legislative appropriation—$7 million of which
was authorized by the statute that authorized the BRA–DEM agreement (discussed at
pp. 7ﬀ). This use is also the result of the LWCF funds and agreement between the state
and federal government and between the BRA and the state to maintain the site for ``public outdoor recreation in perpetuity’’ (discussed at pp. 5ﬀ). The purpose of the taking for
Article 97 purposes is further supported by the 1989 plaque dedicating Long Wharf Park
(discussed at p. 8). The park use is also fully consonant with the BRA’s accompanying
urban-renewal plan, which, on the ``Proposed Land Use’’ plan, designated Long Wharf
as public open space. Map 2 of Exhibit B of the Downtown Waterfront–Faneuil Hall Urban Renewal Plan, in Exhibit 3 of plaintiﬀs’ Additional Exhibits and References Relevant
to Article 97 Protection. In sum, the ultimate use shows that the purpose of the original
order of taking was for Article 97 purposes.
E. Long Wharf is public-trust land many times over
In summary, Long Wharf became public-trust land in six diﬀerent ways:
1970 (taking)

Article 97

1981 (LWCF Agreement)

Prior public use

Article 97

1984 (BRA–DEM Agreement)

Prior public use

Article 97

1989 (park dedication)

Prior public use

They are also listed out below:
a. At the time of the taking (1970), it came under the protection of Article 97.
b. Upon the execution of the BRA–DEM Agreement (1984), it came under the protection
of Article 97 and prior public use.
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c. Upon the execution of the LWCF Agreement (1981), it came under the protection of
Article 97 and prior public use.
d. Upon dedication as Long Wharf Park (1989), it came under the protection of prior public use.
Any one of the six possibilities is enough for a ﬁnding that the BRA is acting ultra vires
and that mandamus lies against it. The BRA and the DEP both argued to the Presiding Oﬀicer that ``jurisdiction to interpret and apply Article 97 lies with the courts of the
Commonwealth.’’ Record, p. 458. The public-trust requirements should be applied in the
proceedings again before this Court.

IV. The DEP improperly granted a Chapter 91 license to the BRA
So much for the public-trust aspects of the case, which the SJC and this court have ruled
are outside the Chapter 91 process. Plaintiﬀs now turn to the Chapter 91 aspects. Except
for minor editing for ﬂow, this section is mostly identical to the corresponding section in
plaintiﬀs earlier brief accompanying their motion for judgment on the pleadings. The two
substantive diﬀerences are as follows:
1. In view of the Mahajan court’s holdings regarding DEP’s relation to Article 97, plaintiﬀs
no longer assert the argument that DEP is violating constitutional provisions (Article
97).
2. With the discovery of the correct LWCF boundary map, plaintiﬀs use that document
to support the argument, made earlier, that DEP’s license is inconsistent with its regulations requiring DEP to take notice of relevant guidance from a state, local, or federal
agency.
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A. The Chapter 91 license is based on numerous errors of law
The Final Decision of the Commissioner of the Executive Oﬀice of Energy and Environmental Aﬀairs (Record, p. 600), which adopted almost entirely the Recommended Final
Decision of the Presiding Oﬀicer (Record, p. 563), were based on the several errors of law,
discussed in turn in the following subsections.
1. DEP failed to consider crucial guidance from other agencies
310 CMR 9.53(3)(a) provides that
the Department shall take into account any guidance forthcoming from a state, federal,
regional, or municipal agency as to the extent to which the project will contribute
to or detract from the implementation of any speciﬁc policy, plan or program relating to, among other things: education; employment; energy; environmental
protection; historic or archaeological preservation; housing; industry; land use;
natural resources; public health and safety; public recreation; and transportation.
(emphasis supplied)
Such guidance includes the correct federal LWCF map, showing that Long Wharf was
designated for public outdoor recreation in perpetuity.
2. The Presiding Oﬀicer failed to rule that the proposed project would signiﬁcantly
degrade views of the water from ``areas of concentrated public activity’’
The Presiding Oﬀicer failed to rule that the proposed project would signiﬁcantly degrade
views of the water from ``areas of concentrated public activity.’’ 310 CMR 9.51(2)(b).
From almost any location in the park on the end of Long Wharf, visitors now enjoy
an approximately 270-degree panorama of Boston Harbor and nearby historic locations.
Enclosing and ﬁlling the shade structure greatly reduces the zone where the public would
enjoy 270-degree panoramas. And in the summer, the additional blockage from the outdoor seating and sun umbrellas shrink that zone to a few meager regions near the water.
Record, p. 610–615 and also the photographs at 605–609 and 636–637.
The Defendants try to overcome this problem by stating that the project will enclose
the shade structure using windowed walls, a claim adopted by the Presiding Oﬀicer in the
Recommended Final Decision. Record, p. 586. However, windowed walls surrounding an
11
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active restaurant signiﬁcantly degrade the wide, expansive, see-through views currently
available. (The windowed walls are shown on the plan at Record, p. 1297; on the obstructive eﬀect of the windowed walls, as shown in the proponent’s own renderings, see
Mahajan rebuttal testimony at paras. 58–63, Record, p. 622–623.)
The Waterways regulations, at 310 CMR 9.51(2), provide that
[i]f the project includes new structures or spaces for nonwater-dependent use,
such structures or spaces must be developed in a manner that protects the utility
and adaptability of the site for water-dependent purposes by preventing signiﬁcant incompatibility in design with structures and spaces which reasonably can
be expected to serve such purposes, either on or adjacent to the project site.
The project, however, would create signiﬁcant incompatibility in design. The regulations
continue (310 CMR 9.51(2)(b)) by explaining what ``aspects of built form’’ constitute such
an incompatibility:
the layout and conﬁguration of buildings and other permanent structures, insofar
as they may aﬀect existing and potential public views of the water, marine-related
features along the waterfront, and other objects of scenic, historic or cultural importance to the waterfront, especially along sight lines emanating in any direction
from public ways and other areas of concentrated public activity[.]
On this issue, the Recommended Final Decision contains several materially incorrect statements leading to the incorrect conclusion of regulatory compliance. Record, p. 586. The
ﬁrst incorrect statement is that the ``height, scale, and massing’’ of the building will not
change. Ibid. In fact, the building will be enlarged, thereby changing its scale; and the
building will be enclosed, thereby changing its massing. Record, p. 38. The second incorrect statement is that the project does not interfere with the HarborWalk ``in any way.’’
Record, p. 586. As discussed above, the views from the HarborWalk to the water through
the structure will be signiﬁcantly diminished.
Because the project’s proposed nonwater-dependent structure would detrimentally
aﬀect views of the water from areas of concentrated public activity, including by greatly diminishing the panoramic vistas oﬀered to the Long Wharf park visitor, on the Harborwalk
and elsewhere, the project fails to meet the regulatory requirement of 310 CMR 9.51(2)(b).
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The contrary ﬁnding by the Presiding Oﬀicer was an error of law.
3. The Presiding Oﬀicer failed to rule that the proposed project, by requiring zoning
variances that are not de minimus, does not comply with the Municipal Harbor
Plan
The Presiding Oﬀicer failed to rule that the proposed project, by requiring zoning variances that are not de minimus, fails to comply with the Municipal Harbor Plan, and therefore that the project violates the Waterways regulations.
Because the proposed project is located in an area covered by the City of Boston Municipal Harbor Plan, the Waterways regulations require that the project comply with the
Municipal Harbor Plan. 310 CMR 9.34(2)(a). The regulations provide stringent standards
before the Department can ﬁnd compliance with the Municipal Harbor Plan, including
that
the Department shall not ﬁnd the requirement [of compliance with the Municipal
Harbor Plan] has been met if the project requires a variance or similar form of
exemption from the substantive provisions of the municipal harbor plan, unless
the Department determines the deviation to be de minimus or unrelated to the
purposes of GL c. 91 or 310 CMR 9.00.
310 CMR 9.34(2)(a)(2). The Municipal Harbor Plan adopts the provisions of Boston Zoning
Code (excluding only conditional uses and de-minimus variances). Secretary’s Decision
on the Municipal Harbor Plan, Section VI(b), p. 37 [this document is referred to by the
Presiding Oﬀicer in the Recommended Final Decision (Record, p. 582)]. This project required 14 variances, many substantial, from the Boston Zoning Code and therefore from
the Municipal Harbor Plan. Record, p. 659. The variances required include the following:
Change the legal occupancy to a restaurant. . .A takeout, allowing outdoor seating
and patio use until midnight. Also, allow live entertainment.
Record, p. 659, City of Boston ZBA hearing notice. Here is a further subset of the section titles of the variances, indicating their substantive nature: `Chapter 91 requirements’
(42A-5), `Open space requirements’ (42A-6), `Waterfront yard area requirements’ (42A-7),
and `Environmental protection and safety standards’ (42A-9). The Zoning Board of Ap-
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peal written decision further describes that it granted variances ``from the dimensional,
open space, environmental and design requirements cited for the project.’’ Record, p. 129,
139.
Because the project needed substantive variances, the DEP is mandated by the regulations at 310 CMR 9.34(2)(a) to ﬁnd that it does not comply with the Municipal Harbor
Plan and therefore that it cannot go forward.
4. The Presiding Oﬀicer failed to rule that the project improperly encroaches on
water-dependent use zone
The project fails because it does not meet the dimensional requirements of the regulations.
Speciﬁcally, the regulations specify a water-dependent use zone in which ``new or expanded buildings for nonwater-dependent use’’ shall not be located. 310 CMR 9.51(3)(c).
This zone, shaded in gray on the map provided by the proposed lessee (Record, p. 36),
includes a portion of the pavilion proposed for enclosure and expansion. Because the
project is a nonwater-dependent use (Record, p. 49, Written Determination), it may not
use the water-dependent use zone for new or expanded buildings.
The project, according to the Recommended Final Decision, circumvents this restriction via the Municipal Harbor Plan. The Municipal Harbor Plan indeed provides alternative setback distances, with which the project is argued to comply. However, as discussed
in the Recommended Final Decision (Record, p. 585), the Municipal Harbor Plan distances
are applicable only if the project ``promotes public use or other water-dependent activity
in a clearly superior manner.’’ The Presiding Oﬀicer incorrectly found that the project
does so. Record, p. 582, 583, 585. A project that changes the use or control of LWCF-protected, prior-public-purpose, and Article-97 protected land without the mandated federal
and legislative authorization, and amounts to the de-facto release of several conservation
restrictions, cannot reasonably be said to promote public use in a clearly superior manner.
Failing the clearly superior manner test, the project cannot use the Municipal Harbor Plan’s setback distances. Instead, it must meet the dimensional requirements of 310
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CMR 9.51(3)(c)—which it does not. Therefore, the project fails to meet the requirements
of 310 CMR 9.34(2)(b)(1) and 310 CMR 9.51(3)(c)(2). The contrary ﬁnding by the Presiding
Oﬀicer is an error of law.
5. The Presiding Oﬀicer failed to rule that the project does not serve a proper public
purpose
The regulatory requirement is that the project must serve ``a proper public purpose which
provides greater beneﬁt than detriment to the rights of the public in said lands.’’ 310
CMR 9.31(2)(b) After a lengthy discussion of the Transportation Improvement Project, the
history and funding of the HarborWalk, and much else, the Presiding Oﬀicer found that
the project does indeed serve a proper public purpose. Record, p. 594–598. These basic
ﬁndings of the Presiding Oﬀicer are irrelevant to, and do not support, the ultimate ﬁnding
of proper public purpose. First, the HarborWalk and Transportation Improvement Project
already exist, are not part of this project, and therefore cannot be counted among its public
beneﬁts. Nominal improvements, such as adding binoculars to the existing amenities on
the HarborWalk, do not change this basic fact.
The regulatory presumptions (based on 310 CMR 9.31(2)) that the project serves a
proper public purpose may be overcome if
a clear showing is made by a municipal, state, regional, or federal agency that
requirements beyond those contained in 310 CMR 9.00 are necessary to prevent
overriding detriment to a public interest which said agency is responsible for protecting[.]
310 CMR 9.31(3)(b). Here, a clear showing has been made by a federal agency (the NPS)
that the LWCF restrictions and requirements are necessary to ``prevent overriding detriment to a public interest which said agency is responsible for protecting[.]’’ As the DEP’s
name implies, and its regulations provide, the DEP is responsible for protecting the environment. 310 CMR 9.01(2). The DEP therefore must ﬁnd that the project does not serve a
proper public purpose. The Presiding Oﬀicer’s contrary ﬁnding is an error of law.
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B. The Final Decision and the Recommended Final Decision were a result of
unlawful procedure
The Final Decision (Record, p. 600) and the Recommended Final Decision (Record, p. 563)
were a result of unlawful procedure and therefore should be reversed.
After the close of evidence in the case, Attorney Kenneth P. Fields, who represented
the proposed restaurant operator in the proceedings, sent an ex-parte communication to
the Presiding Oﬀicer. Record, p. 561. This communication was a ﬂagrant and unlawful
attempt to inﬂuence the Presiding Oﬀicer and the outcome of the proceedings, which is
expressly prohibited by 310 CMR 1.03(7). The method of contact, coupled with its inaccurate factual content, was highly inappropriate and prejudicial. Attorney Fields’ ex-parte
communication, by virtue of its content, was an attempt to undermine the neutrality and
independence of the Presiding Oﬀicer. The ex-parte communication also assumed an outcome favorable to the BRA and restaurant operator.
Of equal concern to the plaintiﬀs was the content of the OADR Case Administrator’s
response. Record, p. 561. Rather than informing Attorney Fields that his communication
was inappropriate and would not be responded to, it instead gave him a corrected email
address for the Chief Presiding Oﬀicer (Salvatore Giorlandino) and acceded to Mr. Fields’
demands by establishing an immediate deadline for the issuance of a decision in a case
involving several days of trial, multiple pleadings and memoranda, and a record exceeding over one thousand pages of documentary evidence (submitted at the insistence of the
Defendant BRA over the objections of the plaintiﬀs). The response from the DEP’s Oﬀice
of Alternative Dispute Resolution gave the impression that Attorney Fields’ assumption
of a favorable outcome was warranted.

V. Conclusion
The Chapter 91 license is void for substantive errors of law: on views of the water, compliance with the Municipal Harbor Plan, the water-dependent use zone, and the proper-pub-
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lic-purpose requirement. Furthermore, the BRA is violating federal laws and regulations
designed to protect open space and parkland, as well as its covenant to record an easement
on behalf of the Commonwealth for public open-space use at Long Wharf. Finally, Long
Wharf is public-trust land many times over. When the public has rights in land, those
rights cannot be abrogated except by an express act of the legislature. See Arno v. Commonwealth, 457 Mass. 434 (2010). The relief prayed for in the amended complaint should
be granted.

Respectfully submitted,
Plaintiﬀs, Pro Se
April 17, 2013
Sanjoy Mahajan
950 Massachusetts Ave, Apt 613
Cambridge MA 02139
617.849.0409
sanjoy@olin.edu
Victor Brogna
111 Atlantic Ave, Apt 310
Boston MA 02110
Stephanie Hogue
7 Henchman St Apt 402
Boston MA 02113
David A. Kubiak
5 Cleveland Place Apt 3
Boston MA 02113
Mary McGee
46 Snow Hill St
Boston MA 02113
Anne M. Pistorio
72 North Margin St
Boston MA 02113
Thomas Schiavoni
46 Snow Hill St
Boston MA 02113
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Robert Skole
Lincoln Wharf 715
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Attachment A. LWCF application
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Attachment B. 36 CFR § 59.3. Conversion requirements
(a) Background and legal requirements. Section 6(f)(3) of the L&WCF Act is the cornerstone of Federal compliance eﬀorts to ensure that the Federal investments in L&WCF assistance are being maintained in public outdoor recreation use. This section of the Act
assures that once an area has been funded with L&WCF assistance, it is continually maintained in public recreation use unless NPS approves substitution property of reasonably
equivalent usefulness and location and of at least equal fair market value.
(b) Prerequisites for conversion approval. Requests from the project sponsor for permission to convert L&WCF assisted properties in whole or in part to other than public outdoor recreation uses must be submitted by the State Liaison Oﬀicer to the appropriate
NPS Regional Director in writing. NPS will consider conversion requests if the following
prerequisites have been met:
(1) All practical alternatives to the proposed conversion have been evaluated.
(2) The fair market value of the property to be converted has been established and the
property proposed for substitution is of at least equal fair market value as established by
an approved appraisal (prepared in accordance with uniform Federal appraisal standards)
excluding the value of structures or facilities that will not serve a recreation purpose.
(3) The property proposed for replacement is of reasonably equivalent usefulness and location as that being converted. Dependent upon the situation and at the discretion of the
Regional Director, the replacement property need not provide identical recreation experiences or be located at the same site, provided it is in a reasonably equivalent location.
Generally, the replacement property should be administered by the same political jurisdiction as the converted property. NPS will consider State requests to change the project
sponsor when it is determined that a diﬀerent political jurisdiction can better carry out
the objectives of the original project agreement. Equivalent usefulness and location will
be determined based on the following criteria:
(i) Property to be converted must be evaluated in order to determine what recreation needs
are being fulﬁlled by the facilities which exist and the types of outdoor recreation resources
and opportunities available. The property being proposed for substitution must then be
evaluated in a similar manner to determine if it will meet recreation needs which are at
least like in magnitude and impact to the user community as the converted site. This criterion is applicable in the consideration of all conversion requests with the exception of
those where wetlands are proposed as replacement property. Wetland areas and interests
therein which have been identiﬁed in the wetlands provisions of the Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan shall be considered to be of reasonably equivalent usefulness with the property proposed for conversion regardless of the nature of the property
proposed for conversion.
(ii) Replacement property need not necessarily be directly adjacent to or close by the converted site. This policy provides the administrative ﬂexibility to determine location recognizing that the property should meet existing public outdoor recreation needs. While
generally this will involve the selection of a site serving the same community(ies) or area
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as the converted site, there may be exceptions. For example, if property being converted
is in an area undergoing major demographic change and the area has no existing or anticipated future need for outdoor recreation, then the project sponsor should seek to locate the
substitute area in another location within the jurisdiction. Should a local project sponsor
be unable to replace converted property, the State would be responsible, as the primary
recipient of Federal assistance, for assuring compliance with these regulations and the
substitution of replacement property.
(iii) The acquisition of one parcel of land may be used in satisfaction of several approved
conversions.
(4) The property proposed for substitution meets the eligibility requirements for L&WCF
assisted acquisition. The replacement property must constitute or be part of a viable recreation area. Unless each of the following additional conditions is met, land currently in
public ownership, including that which is owned by another public agency, may not be
used as replacement land for land acquired as part of an L&WCF project:
(i) The land was not acquired by the sponsor or selling agency for recreation.
(ii) The land has not been dedicated or managed for recreational purposes while in public
ownership.
(iii) No Federal assistance was provided in the original acquisition unless the assistance
was provided under a program expressly authorized to match or supplement L&WCF
assistance.
(iv) Where the project sponsor acquires the land from another public agency, the selling
agency must be required by law to receive payment for the land so acquired.
In the case of development projects for which the State match was not derived from the
cost of the purchase or value of a donation of the land to be converted, but from the value
of the development itself, public land which has not been dedicated or managed for recreation/conservation use may be used as replacement land even if this land is transferred
from one public agency to another without cost.
(5) In the case of assisted sites which are partially rather than wholly converted, the impact
of the converted portion on the remainder shall be considered. If such a conversion is
approved, the unconverted area must remain recreationally viable or be replaced as well.
(6) All necessary coordination with other Federal agencies has been satisfactorily accomplished including, for example, compliance with section 4(f) of the Department of Transportation Act of 1966.
(7) The guidelines for environmental evaluation have been satisfactorily completed and
considered by NPS during its review of the proposed 6(f)(3) action. In cases where the
proposed conversion arises from another Federal action, ﬁnal review of the State’s proposal shall not occur until the NPS Regional oﬀice is assured that all environmental review
requirements related to that other action have been met.
(8) State intergovernmental clearinghouse review procedures have been adhered to if the
proposed conversion and substitution constitute signiﬁcant changes to the original Land
and Water Conservation Fund project.
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(9) The proposed conversion and substitution are in accord with the Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP) and/or equivalent recreation plans.
(c) Amendments for conversion. All conversions require amendments to the original
project agreements. Therefore, amendment requests should be submitted concurrently
with conversion requests or at such time as all details of the conversion have been worked
out with NPS. Section 6(f)(3) project boundary maps shall be submitted with the amendment request to identify the changes to the original area caused by the proposed conversion and to establish a new project area pursuant to the substitution. Once the conversion
has been approved, replacement property should be immediately acquired. Exceptions to
this rule would occur only when it is not possible for replacement property to be identiﬁed prior to the State’s request for a conversion. In such cases, an express commitment
to satisfy section 6(f)(3) substitution requirements within a speciﬁed period, normally not
to exceed one year following conversion approval, must be received from the State. This
commitment will be in the form of an amendment to the grant agreement.
(d) Obsolete facilities. Recipients are not required to continue operation of a particular
facility beyond its useful life. However, when a facility is declared obsolete, the site must
nonetheless be maintained for public outdoor recreation following discontinuance of the
assisted facility. Failure to so maintain is considered to be a conversion. Requests regarding changes from a L&WCF funded facility to another otherwise eligible facility at the
same site that signiﬁcantly contravene the original plans for the area must be made in
writing to the Regional Director. NPS approval must be obtained prior to the occurrence
of the change. NPS approval is not necessarily required, however, for each and every facility use change. Rather, a project area should be viewed in the context of overall use and
should be monitored in this context. A change from a baseball ﬁeld to a football ﬁeld, for
example, would not require NPS approval. A change from a swimming pool with substantial recreational development to a less intense area of limited development such as a
passive park, or vice versa, would, however, require NPS review and approval. To assure
that facility changes do not signiﬁcantly contravene the original project agreement, NPS
shall be notiﬁed by the State of all proposed changes in advance of their occurrence. A
primary NPS consideration in the review of requests for changes in use will be the consistency of the proposal with the Statewide Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan and/or
equivalent recreation plans. Changes to other than public outdoor recreation use require
NPS approval and the substitution of replacement land in accordance with section 6(f)(3)
of the L&WCF Act and paragraphs (a) through (c) of this section.
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Attachment C. Transcript of oral argument
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9
1

Botsford, that if you had taken -- if you take

2

land for the purpose of redevelopment and then

3

convey it to a conservation commission or parks

4

and recreation, then that land becomes protected

5

under Article 97.

6
7

MS. CHICOINE:

Yes, Your Honor,

absolutely.

8
9

Do you agree with that?

JUDGE GANTS:

Okay.

So if there were

to be -- now here, of course, there was a -- it’s

10

declared to be a park.

11

Should that be viewed as the equivalent of a

12

conveyance in terms of the intention of the BRA to

13

have that land be parkland?

14

You put a plaque on it.

MS. CHICOINE:

It is not a conveyance,

15

and it is, though, a park.

16

Wharf is protected by Article 97, and that is the

17

Compass Rose area that is adjacent to this project

18

site.

19

JUDGE BOTSFORD:

20

JUDGE GANTS:

21

Is that --

And it’s protected

because --

22

JUDGE BOTSFORD:

23

MS. CHICOINE:

24

So a portion of Long

Yeah.
And the Compass Rose

area is protected specifically in that scenario
SHEA COURT REPORTING SERVICES
(617) 227-3097
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10
1

because of the acceptance of federal funds, under

2

the Land and Water Conservation Fund, to create

3

the Compass Rose.

4

a special status, as is the Harbor Walk.

5

is what the plaque, Long Wharf Park, refers to

6

is --

7

So that area is impressed with

JUDGE GANTS:

And that

So it’s become -- is it

8

within Article 97 or simply that you risk federal

9

funding if you were to depart from what was a

10

commitment to the federal government?

11

MS. CHICOINE:

Well, there has not

12

previously been really any statement of when urban

13

renewal land and what uses become subject to

14

Article 97, but it is classified that way by the

15

Parks and Recreation Commission of the City of

16

Boston that one protection, which does apply to

17

one portion of Long Wharf, is Article 97.

18

JUDGE GANTS:

Okay.

So, now, BRA --

19

so, land conveyed for urban development can become

20

Article 97 land if, one, it’s conveyed to the

21

Parks and Recreation, or second, if you accept

22

federal funding with the commitment that it remain

23

parkland?

24

when it can become Article 97 land?

Is that sort of another addendum to

SHEA COURT REPORTING SERVICES
(617) 227-3097
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11
1

MS. CHICOINE:

I would say that it is,

2

yes, a condition that would then alter its status

3

as urban renewal land that can be modified.

4

JUDGE GANTS:

Okay.

Now, they will, I

5

assume, come up and say there’s a third addendum,

6

which is when you put a plaque on it and say it is

7

part of a park and you’ve declared it to be such.

8

Why should there not be this third addendum?

9

MS. CHICOINE:

Because the plaque does

10

not define the boundaries of the area that is a

11

park.

12

over three hundred years ago and has been the site

13

of an array of commercial uses.

14

deteriorating warehouses and fish-processing

15

plants on Long Wharf until the BRA took

16

stewardship of it.

17

And Long Wharf, you must recall, was built

There were

And it was through the BRA’s vision

18

that it became a gem of the Boston waterfront,

19

with pedestrian access and a bustling marina.

20

the ability to modify urban renewal land is what

21

the BRA is charged with, under the urban renewal

22

statute, to meet the city’s evolving needs.

23

And I would say, just in closing, also

24

that the Superior Court erred in this circumstance
SHEA COURT REPORTING SERVICES
(617) 227-3097
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And

Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Suﬀolk, S.S.

Superior Court Civil No. SUCV2010-0802-H

Sanjoy Mahajan, Victor Brogna, Stephanie Hogue, David Kubiak, Mary McGee, Anne
M. Pistorio, Thomas Schiavoni, Pasqua Scibelli, Robert Skole, and Patricia Thiboutot,
Plaintiﬀs
v.
Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection
and
Boston Redevelopment Authority,
Defendants

Plaintiﬀs’ memorandum of law in support of motion to
amend complaint
Plaintiﬀs submit the following memorandum in support of their motion to amend their
complaint. In particular, plaintiﬀs explain here why the claims should be sustained.

I. The BRA’s proposed restaurant and bar violates its covenant,
purchased with $9 million of state funds, to preserve Long Wharf as
public open space
On September 13, 1984, the BRA and the Commonwealth—acting through the Department of Environmental Management (DEM) 1—executed an agreement regarding the redevelopment of Long Wharf. Agreement between the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
Acting by and through the Department of Environmental Management and the Boston Redevelopment Authority Relative to Development and Management of Public Open Space
on and Adjacent to Long Wharf, Boston (``BRA–DEM Agreement,’’ of plaintiﬀs’ Amended
1 The legal successor to the DEM is the Department of Conservation and Recreation (DCR).

G.L. c. 21 §1.
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Attachment G. Agreement between DEM and BRA
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Attachment H. LWCF 6(f) boundary map
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Attachment I. Transmittal email from NPS

From: Howard, Jack <jack_howard@nps.gov>
Subject: Re: LWCF Project #25-00295, Long Wharf
To: Sanjoy Mahajan <sanjoy@olin.edu>
Cc: melissa.cryan@state.ma.us
Date: Thu, 20 Dec 2012 07:43:15 -0500
Dear Mr. Mahajan,
As requested, attached for your review is the 6(f) boundary map for LWCF project
#25-00295, Long Wharf. The darken [sic] shaded area for the Phase 1 proposed
development is the actual 6(f) boundary area for Long Wharf. The State Division
of Conservation Services, the agency that administers the LWCF Program on behalf of the National Park Service in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts has been
monitoring the situation at Long Wharf and communicating with their oﬀice any
concerns you have on this matter would be the appropriate course of action. Ms.
Melissa Cryan would be the contact person and her telephone number is (617)
626-1171 and the e-mail address is <Melissa.Cryan@state.ma.us>.
Jack W. Howard, Manager
State and Local Assistance Programs
National Park Service
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